
LICENSING 
COMMITTEE

________________________________________________

Wednesday, 28 November 2018 at 6.30 p.m.

The Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 
5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

The meeting is open to the public to attend. 
Members: Ward Represented

Chair: Councillor Zenith Rahman Bromley North;
Vice-Chair: Councillor Shad Chowdhury Spitalfields & Banglatown;
Councillor Faroque Ahmed Whitechapel;
Councillor Sabina Akhtar Stepney Green;
Councillor Shah Ameen Whitechapel;
Councillor Peter Golds Island Gardens;
Councillor Ehtasham Haque Blackwall & Cubitt Town;
Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain Bethnal Green;
Councillor Tarik Khan St Peter's;
Councillor Eve McQuillan Bethnal Green;
Councillor Ayas Miah St Dunstan's;
Councillor Victoria Obaze Whitechapel;
Councillor Leema Qureshi Spitalfields & Banglatown;
Councillor Dan Tomlinson Bromley North;
Councillor Puru Miah Mile End;

[The quorum for this body is 3 Members]

Contact for further enquiries: 
Farhana Zia, Senior Democratic Services Officer, 
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 0842
E-mail: farhana.zia @towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
an electronic 
agenda: 

Page 1



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited 
and offered on a first come first served basis.

Audio/Visual recording of meetings. 
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all 
stop near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place 
Blackwall station: Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, 
through the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf.
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 
Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda. 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to 
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you 
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, Apple and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users

Page 2

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST  (Pages 5 - 
8)

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 
Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Monitoring Officer.

PAGE
NUMBER

WARD(S)
AFFECTED

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing 
Committee held on 4th September and the 13th September 
2018 as an accurate record of the proceedings. 

9 - 20

3. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 

3 .1 China Five Elements  21 - 106 Spitalfields 
and 

Banglatown
3 .2 China Health Spa  107 - 170 Canary Wharf

3 .3 Little Jasmine Centre  171 - 232 Blackwall and 
Cubitt Town

Next Meeting of the Licensing Committee
Thursday, 13 December 2018 at 6.30 p.m. to be held in C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, 
Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer, Tel 020 7364 4800

Page 6



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

HELD AT 6.30 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 
CLOVE CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Zenith Rahman (Chair)
Councillor Shad Chowdhury (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Faroque Ahmed
Councillor Sabina Akhtar
Councillor Shah Ameen
Councillor Peter Golds
Councillor Ehtasham Haque
Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain
Councillor Victoria Obaze
Councillor Leema Qureshi

Apologies 

Councillor Tarik Khan
Councillor Eve McQuillan
Councillor Ayas Miah
Councillor Dan Tomlinson
Councillor Puru Miah

Others Present:

John Fitzsimons – (Counsel- Item 3.1)
Jean Adams – (Representing Dadds Solicitors –Item 3.1)

Officers Present:

Tom Lewis – (Team Leader - Licensing Services)
David Wong – (Legal Services)
Simmi Yesmin – (Senior Committee Officer, 

Democratic Services)
Farhana Zia – Senior Committee Services Officer

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST 

Councillors Victoria Obaze, Faroque Ahmed and Shah Ameen declared a 
personal interest on 3.1, Application for a renewal of a Sexual Entertainment 
Venue Licence for Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman Street, London E1 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

8EW on the basis they were ward councillors for Whitechapel in which this 
premises was situated in. They confirmed that they had not discussed this 
application prior to the meeting. 

2. RULES OF PROCEDURE - LICENCES FOR SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT 
VENUES 

The rules of procedure were noted. 

3. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 

3.1 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) 
Application for a renewal of a Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence for 
Whites Gentleman's Club, 32 - 38 Leman Street, London E1 8EW 

At the request of the Chair, Mr Tom Lewis introduced the report for the 
renewal application for Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman Street, 
London E1 8EW. He referred Members to the report contained in the agenda 
and explained that the current renewal application is to permit the premises to 
operate as a sexual entertainment venue. It was noted that the premises was 
visited on the 1st February 2018 and a checklist of questions was completed 
with the Applicant which covered a range of points from the code of conduct 
of performers to CCTV coverage etc. it was noted that the Licensing Officers 
were satisfied that all conditions of the licence had been met and 
management at the premise were cooperative and records had been kept in 
working order. 

Mr Lewis went on to explain the assessment and information for the locality, 
he explained that Appendix 11, page 98 -110 contained the Ward Profile for 
Whitechapel produced by the corporate research unit in May 2014 to provide 
Members with details in relation to the locality of the premises. It was noted 
that though this was produced in 2014 it was the most up-to-date information 
available. He also referred Members to Appendix 12 page 111 which provided 
details of the character and location of venues in 2017 and Appendix 13 page 
113 provided the changes to the character of the area from 2015-2017. The 
relevant locality was assessed as being within a 100 metre radius centred on 
the premise. It was noted that the vicinity was a mix of commercial and 
residential accommodation and had around 5.8% of Borough’s resident 
population. 

The consultation process was explained and it was noted that no Responsible 
Authority had objected to the application. However, there was one objection 
from a local resident, the objection was on the basis that the premise location 
was in close proximity to a local school and this premise would have no 
contribution to the area or local community. 
 
Mr Lewis concluded by informing Members that they should consider the 
relevant legislation, the Council’s SEV Policy and standard conditions when 
making their decision. 

Page 10



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

Members then heard from Mr John Fitzsimons, Counsel for the Applicant, he 
explained that Mr Lewis had summarised the report in full and was content 
with the details provided. He stated that there has been a licence at the 
premises since 2006 and at the last renewal licence in 2017 further conditions 
were added to the licence which were specific to the premises. It was noted 
that the visit in February 2018 by Licensing Officers found the premises to be 
compliant with all conditions. It was noted that over the last year there has 
been no enforcement actions, no issues, no complaints and no objections 
from Responsible Authorities or Ward Councillors. 

He explained that there was only one single objection from a local resident, 
who was not present at the meeting and it was noted that attempts had been 
made to mediate with the objector. Mr Fitzsimons stated that this was a 
business creating employment, and a functioning business paying tax and 
attracting customers. He highlighted Appendix 13 on page 113 and detailed 
the fact that there had been very little change in the character of the location 
over the past years. 

The objector was not present at the meeting, therefore Members noted and 
considered the written objection contained in Appendix 16 on pages 119-120.

In response to questions from the Committee the following was noted; 

- That the SEV entertainment would start from 7.30pm till 04:00am the 
following day.  

- That the Applicant limited flyers to private hirer vehicles and hackney 
carriage licence holders.  

- That the Applicant would be happy not to distribute door to door flyers. 
- That there was a demand/clientele for this type of establishment. 
- That the Whitechapel ward profile was last updated in 2014 and this 

was the most up to date information available. 
- That the premises licence is renewed annually. 
- The Legal Representative was unsure of the make-up of employees at 

the premises, ie. whether they were local residents etc.  
- That there had been no changes in housing units since 2016.
- The consultation process was further explained 
- That Ward Councillors were emailed as part of the consultation 

process. 
- All Responsible Authorities were also informed as part of the 

consultation process. 
- That the visit made at the premise on 1st February 2018 by Licencing 

Officers was an unannounced visit/inspection. 
- The legal officer stated that previous allegations could not form a part 

of the hearing as there have been licences granted since then. 

Members retired to consider their decision at 7.40.pm and reconvened at 
8.35pm. 

Decision

Page 11



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

Accordingly, the Licensing Committee made a majority decision –

RESOLVED

That the application for a renewal of a Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence 
for Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman Street, London E1 8EW be 
GRANTED an identical licence with conditions .

At a hearing of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets Licensing Committee 
on Tuesday September 4th September 2018 the Licensing Committee, by a 
majority vote, resolved to grant the renewal of a Sexual Entertainment Venue 
Licence to Whites Venues Ltd for the Premises at 32-38 Leman Street, 
London E1 8EW subject to the Standard Conditions of the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets made under paragraph 13 of Schedule 3 to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as revised on 23rd June 
2015, and the following additional conditions specific to the Premises made in 
accordance with Tower Hamlets Sex Establishment Licensing Policy.

42 “Relevant entertainment” as defined in paragraph 2A(2) of Schedule 3 
to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 is 
permitted only during the hours set out in the table below

Monday 19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Tuesday 00hrs-04.00hrs
19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Wednesday 00hrs-04.00hrs
19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Thursday 00hrs-04.00hrs
19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Friday 00hrs-04.00hrs
19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Saturday 00hrs-04.00hrs
19.30hrs-24.00hrs

Sunday 00hrs-04.00hrs

43. Without prejudice to Standard Condition 5, at least six SIA registered 
door supervisors shall constantly monitor the striptease entertainment 
in the Premises and ensure that all relevant conditions of this Licence 
are being complied with. 

44. The relevant tariff must be drawn to the attention of each customer 
before they pay any fee or charge.

Page 12



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

45. No charge may be made to any customer for any drink provided to a 
performer, hostess or companion unless a customer has expressly 
ordered it having been informed of the cost. 

46. No charge shall be made to any customer for hire or use of any room, 
or reserved area within the Premises, unless the customer has first 
been made aware of the cost and signed an order from consenting for 
the charge to be made. The order form shall be counter-signed by the 
manager of the Premises. The order form shall state in a legible form: 

(a) the date and time of signature; 
(b) the room, or area to be used or hired by the customer; 
(c) the date, time and duration of the agreed hire or use of the 
room, or area; 
(d) the details as to what, if any, sexual or other entertainment 
will be provided and by how many performers; 
(e) the names of any agreed performers; 
(f) the total agreed price and manner of payment; 
(g) the full name of the manager; and 
(h) the full name or the customer. 
The order form must be filled in and signed, and payment for the 
room or area taken, in the designated area shown on the 
attached plan. The designated area must be well-lit and covered 
by a CCTV camera which accurately records the transaction and 
the time and date of the footage. After payment is taken, the 
customer shall be provided with a receipt and the Licensee shall 
retain a copy.

The SEV Licence will expire on 31st May 2019.

In reaching its decision the Licensing Committee had regard to Tower 
Hamlets’ Sex Establishment Licensing Policy (Policy) made pursuant to 
Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, 
and the single objection.

None of the relevant authorities objected to the renewal of the SEV Licence.

The objection was based on Grounds 4(a) and (b) of the Policy. However, 
there was no evidence to support the objection, and the objector did not 
attend the hearing. Therefore the Committee did not take account of the 
objection.

Six of the additional conditions specific to the Premises were carried over 
from the previous Licence. The Committee resolved to add a new Condition 
42 to promote the objectives of the Policy, and in particular to control the 
impact of the venue in relation to its locality, namely the English Martyrs 
Primary School, and residential accommodation, and to distinguish between 
when the Premises operated as a Sexual Entertainment Venue as opposed to 
when the Premises operated as a Licensed Premises pursuant to the 
Licensing Act 2003.

Page 13



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 04/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

6

Counsel for the Applicant agreed to the Committee adding new condition 42 
as it reflected the hours set out in “Section H Operation of the Premises” in 
the Application for the Renewal of the SEV Licence dated 24th May 2018.

The meeting ended at 8.45 p.m. 

Chair, Councillor Zenith Rahman
Licensing Committee

Page 14



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 13/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

HELD AT 6.30 P.M. ON THURSDAY, 13 SEPTEMBER 2018

THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 
CLOVE CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Zenith Rahman (Chair)
Councillor Shad Chowdhury (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain
Councillor Leema Qureshi
Councillor Dan Tomlinson

Apologies 

Councillor Sabina Akhtar
Councillor Shah Ameen
Councillor Peter Golds
Councillor Ehtasham Haque
Councillor Tarik Khan
Councillor Eve McQuillan
Councillor Victoria Obaze
Councillor Puru Miah

Others Present:

 Farida Yasmin – Member of the Public
Dinah Glover – Member of the Public
Jason Pritchard – Councillor – City of London 
Haijun Zuo – Objector & Licence Holder – 3.1

Officers Present:

Agnes Adrien – (Team Leader, Enforcement & 
Litigation, Legal Services)

Tom Lewis – (Team Leader - Licensing Services)
David Tolley – (Head of Environmental Health and 

Trading Standards)
Amran Ali – Health and Safety Officer, Trading 

Standards
Farhana Zia – Senior Committee Services Officer

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest.

Page 15



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 13/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 

The minutes of 17th July 2018 were agreed and approved as an accurate 
record of the meeting.

3. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 

4. LONDON LOCAL AUTHORITIES ACT 1991 HEARING TO CONSIDER THE 
REVOCATION OF THE SPECIAL TREATMENT LICENCE OF CHENG 
XIANG CHINESE MEDICINE LIMITED TRADING AS HEALTH ONE 66 
MIDDLESEX STREET, LONDON, E1 7EX 

Mr Tom Lewis, Team Leader for Licensing and Safety, Environmental Health 
informed members the application before them was to consider the revocation 
of a Special Treatment licence for Cheng Xiang Chinese Medicine Limited 
trading as Health One, 66 Middlesex Street, London E1 7EX.

He said the revocation was sought following the successful prosecution of the 
Licence Holder at Thames Magistrates Court on the 19th June 2018. He 
referred Members to points 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 of the report which gave further 
details of the circumstances for which a Special Treatment Licence is 
required. Mr Lewis also referred Members to point 4.4 which listed the 
grounds for revocation, as per the London Local Authorities Act 1991. 

Amran Ali, Health and Safety Officer provided Members with a detailed 
account of the investigation he had undertaken. He said the team had 
conducted covert surveillance of premises with Special Treatment licences 
and had employed a test purchasing company to conduct test purchases. The 
table at 8.2 of the report, showed the number of visits made in the last 24 
months. Mr Ali stated the first test purchase was carried out on the 7th June 
2017 followed by another on the 23rd June 2017. He said the test purchasers 
were two different individuals who were both offered services of a sexual 
nature at the end of the massage. 

Mr Ali stated the Licence Holder was prosecuted at the Thames Magistrates 
Court on the 19th June 2018, on which occasion the defendant pleaded not 
guilty to breaching the conditions of the licence.  The Court found Cheng 
Xiang Chinese Medicine Limited guilty of breaching the conditions of the 
licence by allowing the premises to be used for purposes other than to carry 
out special treatments. They were fined £1250 for the breach of the licence 
together with costs of £2000  totalling £3,375.

Mr Ali stated the Licensing Authority hoped the Licence Holder would have 
learnt lessons from the prosecution, however when a further test purchase 
was conducted on the 26th July 2018, it was evident the Licence Holder 
continued to breach the terms of the Licence by offering services of a sexual 
nature. 

Page 16



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 13/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

Furthermore, the Licencing Authority received a complaint on the 14th August 
2018 which provided further evidence of the misuse of the premises. The 
evidence was from a website called UKpunting. Mr Ali drew the attention of 
Members to an entry made on the 16th July 2018 which included references to 
sexual services being received by customers of the premises Health One, 66 
Middlesex Street, London E1 7EX.

Mr Ali said the Licence Holder, Mr Haijun Zuo and Ms Xiaoli Song were listed 
as the Directors of business and the application for the Licence showed Mr 
Zuo and Ms Song as the persons responsible for managing the business. Mr 
Ali stated it was evident that both individuals had failed to conduct and 
manage the business in a fit and proper manner by running a brothel business 
whilst masquerading as a massage parlour. Mr Ali continued stating the 
Licensing Authority had concerns of illegal human trafficking of vulnerable 
individuals, especially young women, prostitution and money laundering as 
well as public health concerns of sexually transmitted diseases.

Mr Ali asked Members of the Licensing Committee to revoke the Licence 
based on the evidence before them.

Mr Haijun Zuo, the Licence Holder was also present at the meeting. Mr Zuo 
stated his understanding of English was not particularly good but in defence 
said that he could not always control staff and their behaviour. He said the 
licensing conditions were displayed on the wall and staff had been told not to 
offer extra services. He said the therapist was dismissed when he received 
the letter from the Council.

Members of the Committee asked questions in relation to the application and 
in response the following was noted: 

 Two massage therapists were employed by Health One, but on further 
questioning Mr Zuo stated four were employed. 

 Mr Zuo said he could not control his staff nor could he enter the 
therapy rooms as the clients would not like this and what happened in 
there was private. 

 After the prosecution, the staff member was dismissed however the 
new staff member also broke the law, as per the test purchase of 26th 
July 2018.

 Mr Zuo said had he known he would be questioned he’d have brought 
his solicitor. He said the letter sent to him did not make clear that he 
would be questioned. The Legal Officer asked to see the letter and said 
it was clear the letter set out the reason for the hearing and it was for 
Mr Zuo to instruct a solicitor. 

 Mr Zuo said he would like to give up the licence. The Legal Officer 
asked if he understood that this meant and Mr Zuo said he no longer 
wanted a licence.

Members adjourned the meeting at 19:07 hours for deliberations and 
reconvened at 19:20 hours.

Decision

Page 17



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 13/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

Accordingly, the Committee unanimously 

RESOLVED

That the Application for the revocation of a Special Treatment Licence, under 
the London Local Authorities Act 1991 for Cheng Xiang Medicine Limited 
trading as Health One, 66 Middlesex Street, London E1 7EX be REVOKED :

1. As the licence holder has been found to have improperly conducted its 
business on 7th June 2017, 23rd June 2017 and 26th July 2018 as per 
the test purchase evidence, in breach of Regulation 7 (b) (Appendix 2) 
and:

As per paragraph 4.4 of the report the following grounds for revocation 
applied:

(c) the persons concerned or intended to be concerned in the conduct or 
management of the premises used for special treatment could be 
reasonably regarded as not being fit and proper persons to hold such a 
license;

(e) the premises have been or are being improperly conducted.

   
5. STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2018 - 2023 

Mr David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health presented the Licensing 
Policy 2018 -2023. Mr Tolley explained the policy was a statutory policy of the 
Council which requires the Council to update it, every five years.  Mr Tolley 
said a twelve week consultation had been undertaken and Cabinet had 
considered the policy. The Statement of Licensing Policy would be further 
discussed at Full Council on the 19th September 2018, before the proposed 
policy would be adopted. 

Mr Tolley referred Members to point 3.9 of the report and said various 
stakeholders and the public had been consulted in devising the policy. Over 
1,000 letters had been sent and the policy detailed the responsibility of the 
Licensing Committee and its sub-committee. Mr Tolley stated the main 
changes to the policy, was the introduction of a Cumulative Impact Zone in 
Bethnal Green. Point 3.13, page79 of the agenda pack, outlined the council’s 
framework hours which would remain unchanged. Mr Tolley said the 
Licensing Team would continue to consult residents within a 40 meter radius 
and were looking to revamp the website so to ensure the customer journey, 
systems and processes were more transparent and sufficient.  

Mr Tolley stated the report was for noting and upon Full Council accepting the 
policy, adoption of the policy would be from the 1st November 2018. 

Page 18



LICENSING COMMITTEE, 13/09/2018 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

Members of the Committee asked questions in relation to the report and the 
following was noted: 

 Mr Tolley was asked what the motivation was for the introduction of a 
CIZ in Bethnal Green. Mr Tolley explained the public consultation and 
consultation with the police supported an introduction of a CIZ in the 
area due to the concentration of businesses such as pubs and clubs 
and the increase in anti-social behaviour. 

 Mr Tolley was asked if he could provide statistical information on the 
number of Anti-Social Behaviour incidents in Bethnal Green. Mr Tolley 
confirmed he would circulate this information to the committee. 

 Mr Tolley clarified the Statement of Licencing Policy did not include the 
Council’s policy on Sexual Entertainment Venues. This was a separate 
policy. Members queried if the SEV policy could be reviewed. After 
discussion it was agreed that a workshop of the Council’s SEV policy 
may benefit members. 

The Members of the Licensing Committee:

1. Noted the proposed the Statement of Licensing Policy that will be put 
before full Council on the 19th September 2018. 

The meeting ended at 7.37 p.m. 

Chair, Councillor Zenith Rahman
Licensing Committee

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the:

Licensing Committee

28th November 2018

Report of: David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health 
and Trading Standards Directorate of Place 

Classification:
Unrestricted 

London Local Authorities Act 1991 Hearing to consider the objection to  China 
Five Elements Limited, 35 Artillery Lane, E1 7LP renewing their Special 
Treatment Licence

Originating Officer(s) Charlotte Basten, Environmental Health Officer
Wards affected Spitalfields and Banglatown

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Licence Holder: China Five Elements Ltd 

Name and 
Address of 
Premises:

China Five Elements
35 Artillery Lane 
London 
E1 7LP

Licence sought to 
refuse to renew:

Special Treatment Licence under The London Local 
Authorities Act 1991 Application to renew a Special 
Treatment Licence

Objectors: Natalie Thompson, Principal Environmental Health       
Officer, Licensing and Safety Team

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Licensing Committee is recommended to consider the objection to the 
renewal of the special treatment licence and then adjudicate accordingly.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 This is a report by the Licensing and Safety Team to object to the renewal of 
the special treatment licence for China Five Elements Limited trading as 
China Five Elements, 35 Artillery Lane, London, E1 7LP following evidence 
obtained that services of a sexual nature have been offered by the business 
at the premises. The business was prosecuted by the Council for breaches of 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3.1



regulation 7 (B) of the Regulations made by the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets under section 10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 - for 
allowing the premises to be used by prostitutes, for soliciting or other immoral 
purposes and Condition 12 of the Massage and Special Treatment Licence- 
allowing female therapists to massage male clients without prior approval 
from the Council. 

The matter of China Five Elements Limited was considered by the Stratford 
Magistrates Court on 27 September 2018 in accordance with the Single 
Justice Procedure. The Company pleaded guilty to the two charges of 
breaching its special treatment licence conditions. It was sentenced to pay a 
fine of £500, Victim surcharge of £50 and Costs of £1286.50.

3.2 A licence from the Council is required for the use of a premises as an 
establishment for special treatments. An establishment for special treatment is 
defined in the Act as any premises in the borough used, intended to be used 
or represented as being used for the reception or treatment of persons 
requiring massage, manicure, acupuncture, tattooing, cosmetic piercing, 
chiropody, light, electric or other special treatment of a like kind or vapour, 
sauna or other baths. 

3.3 A renewal of a special treatment licence may be refused under The London 
Local Authorities Act 1991 Section 8.

3.4  China Five Elements Ltd has applied to renew its special treatment licence 
which expired on the 30th of September 2018. A copy of the licence can be 
found at Appendix 1. 

4. Legal Powers and Advice

4.1 Licences are granted subject to standard conditions.

4.2 Those Standard Conditions of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets were 
made under the London Local Authorities Act 1991, Section 10 (1). It is the 
duty of any licence holder to be aware of and abide by those conditions. A 
copy of the standard conditions can be found at Appendix 2.

4.3 The council has made Regulations for annual special treatment licences 
under   section 10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991. These are 
available as Appendix 3.

4.4 Under the London Local Authorities Act 1991 the borough may refuse to 
renew a licence on the following grounds:

(a) the premises are not structurally suitable for the purpose;

(b) there is a likelihood of nuisance being caused by reason of the conduct, 
management or situation of the premises or the character of the relevant 
locality or the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put;

Page 22



(c) the persons concerned or intended to be concerned in the conduct or 
management of the premises used for special treatment could be 
reasonably regarded as not being fit and proper persons to hold such a 
license;

(d) the persons giving the special treatment are not suitably qualified;

(e) the premises have been or are being improperly conducted;

(f) the premises are not provided with satisfactory means of lighting, 
sanitation and ventilation;

(g) the means of heating the premises are not safe;

(h) proper precautions against fire on the premises are not being taken;

(i) they are not satisfied as to the safety of equipment used in the special 
treatment or as to the manner in which the treatment is to be given;

(j) they are not satisfied as to the safety of the special treatment to be 
given;

(k) satisfactory means of escape in case of fire and suitable means for 
fighting fire are not provided on the premises;

(l) the applicant has, within the period of five years immediately preceding 
the application to the borough council, been convicted of an offence 
under this Part of this Act.

4.5 Legislation provides that where an applicant is aggrieved at the Council 
refusing a licence, the applicant may within twenty one days of being notified of 
the Council's refusal appeal to a Magistrates Court. The Court may grant such 
an order as it sees fit.

4.6 An appeal by either party against the decision of the magistrates' court may be 
brought to the Crown Court.

4.7 Where any licence renewal is refused under section 13(5) (Enforcement of Part 
II) of this Act the licence shall be deemed to remain in force – 

(a) until the time for bringing an appeal under this section has expired and, if 
such an appeal is duly brought, until the determination or abandonment of 
the appeal; and

(b) where an appeal relating to the refusal of an application for such a 
renewal is successful until the licence is renewed by the borough council.

5. Grounds for Refusal of the renewal of the Licence

Page 23



5.1 The Environmental Health Department has requested the hearing with the 
Licensing Committee to refuse to renew the licence. The report detailing the 
reasons for this can be found at Appendix 4. Find below a summary of the 
comments.

 China Five Elements Limited was prosecuted at Stratford Magistrates 
Court on 27 September 2018 in accordance with the Single Justice 
Procedure. The Company pleaded guilty to the two charges of 
breaching its special treatment licence conditions. 

 The evidence relied on for this prosecution included a report from 
Netwatch Global an internet surveillance company whose investigation 
found that  detailed reviews that indicated services of a sexual nature 
were provided at the premises, such as a “topless HE” (Happy Ending) 
“for £40” detailed in a review from the 14th April 2017. 

 On the 13/04/2018 a test purchase was carried out by an external 
company contracted by the Council to check if services of a sexual 
nature were being offered at the premises. Services of a sexual nature 
were offered to the test purchaser. In his witness statement, the test 
purchaser stated that he entered the premises China Five Elements at 
approximately 14:00 on 13.04.2018 and paid for a £45 massage. A 
woman of Eastern European appearance conducted the massage and 
asked the test purchaser towards the end if he wanted anything more 
than a massage. The test purchaser enquired as to what this meant, to 
which she replied a “happy ending was £40”, “with breasts was £60” 
and “completely naked was £100”. The test purchaser declined these 
offers and left the premises. 

 The director of the company Mr Wei Lin is responsible for the 
management of the business, the persons concerned in the conduct 
and management of the premises. He should be  reasonably regarded 
as not being fit and proper persons to hold such a licence on basis of 
the guilty plea.

 During an inspection of the premises on the 12th October 2018 an 
officer overheard a male customer at the premises asking if the 
therapist was ‘Chinese or European’. The officer recalled online 
customer comments suggested staff of European origin were offering 
services of a sexual nature. Mr Lin answered with ‘European’. 

 Of the eight therapists listed in the application form only 2 have 
provided evidence that they have the level of qualification required to 
carry out massage treatments in special treatment premises in Tower 
Hamlets

 Under The London Local Authorities Act 1991 the Council may refuse 
to renew a licence held by a person for grounds mentioned in Section 8 
of the Act which include the licence holder not being a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence [section 8 (c)], the persons giving the 

Page 24



treatment not being suitably qualified [section 8 (d)],  the premises 
being improperly conducted [ section 8(e)]. 

6. Recommendations

6.1 Following the objection the renewal of the licence, Members are asked to 
consider the representation when determining whether to refuse to renew the 
licence.

7. Summary of Premises and Licence History 

7.1 The premises were first issued with a Massage and Special Treatment 
Licence on the 20th of September 2012.

8. Complaints and Enforcement History 

8.1 On the 13th April 2017 a petition containing 101 signatures of residents local 
to the Liverpool Street area was handed to the council by the Corporation of 
London. The petition requested that all massage premises in the area were 
investigated for compliance with their licence conditions. The premises run by 
China Five Elements Limited are in that area. 

8.2 The premises has received the following visits from the Local Authority in the 
last 7 years:

Date Authority Nature of visit

20/19/2012 Licensing 
and Safety

Collection of Special treatment licence 
application form and cheque payment from Mr 
Wei. 

14/11/2012 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence inspection. Several points required 
action.
- No first aid box on site. 
-No accident book on site. 
-Therapists’ details and qualifications not 
provided.

14/11/2013 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Several points 
required action. 
-Qualification and passport photos not provided 
for therapists.
-Unsatisfactory medical history checks for 
acupuncture clients.
- Portable electrical appliances not tested.
- Clients not given verbal and written after care 
advice
- Accident book not provided on the premises

06/10/2014 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Several points 
required action:

- Client records not confidentially stored

Page 25



- No fire exit signs
- No accident book

10/11/2015 Licensing 
and Safety

Visit following complaint about fleas in the 
premises. The business owner was not 
available. 

20/11/2015 Licensing 
and Safety

Follow up visit to fleas complaint. No evidence 
of infestation was found. 

26/11/2015 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal inspection. Several Points 
required action. 

- A large amount of lime scale deposit on 
shower head.

- Infection control issues (towels not 
changed between clients)

- Lack of adequate means of cleaning and 
disinfecting the premises

- Client medical history checks not 
satisfactory

- Lack of a suitable number of persons as 
adequate for rendering first aid

17/10/2016 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Issues of 
therapists passport photos and qualifications 
raised. 

27/09/2017 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Several points 
required action:

- Hepatitis B Vaccination for therapists
- Lack of lidded bins
- Alarm system linked to reception to be 

installed in the treatment room
- Request for therapist passport photos
- Expired therapist qualifications.

13/04/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Test purchase. Services of a sexual nature 
offered.

12/10/2018 Licensing 
and Safety 

Licensing renewal visit
A male customer observed requesting 
nationalities of masseuse. 

8.3 The licence holder was prosecuted under the London Local Authorities Act 
1991. The case was considered by the Stratford Magistrates Court on 27 
September 2018 in accordance with the Single Justice Procedure. The 
Company pleaded guilty to the two charges of breaching its special treatment 
licence conditions. It was sentenced as follows:

8.4 China Five Elements Limited was sentenced as follows;
Fine: £500
Costs: £1286.50
Victim surcharge: £50

9. Special Treatment Licences and Determination 

Page 26



9.1 Members should consider the relevant legislation and Standard Conditions 
(see Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 respectively).

10. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 There are no equalities implications.

11. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Best Value implications: There are no best value implications.

11.2 Environmental considerations: There are no environmental implications.

11.3 Crime reduction: One of the key objectives of the Council is to ensure that it 
does not licence premises that are liable to be a source of crime and disorder. 
The Council supports and assists with crime and disorder reduction by 
controlling those who manage premises open to members of the public and 
imposing conditions on licences. Illegal activity has been proven to occur at 
the premises.

11.4 Safeguarding: There are no proven safeguarding impacts; however premises 
that are managed in this way may employ underage persons or vulnerable 
adults. Therefore there may be a positive safeguarding impact.

11.5 Risk Management: The Council will be at risk of legal challenge if its 
processes are not transparent and evidentially based.

12. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

12.1 The Chief Finance Officer has been consulted on this report and has no 
additional comments to make. 

                                                      
13. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES 

13.1 Section 10 of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 enables the local authority 
to make regulations prescribing standard conditions applicable to all licenses 
for special treatment premises.  

13.2  The London Borough of Tower Hamlets made such regulations which are 
produced as Appendix 3 to this report, and one of those regulations, 7(B) says, 
“The licensee shall ensure that no part of the premises are used by prostitutes, 
for soliciting or any other immoral purposes.” Condition 6 says that all 
treatments shall be given only by persons approved by the Council or, 
provided that the written consent of the Council has been obtained, under the 
personal supervision of a person approved by the Council.

Page 27



13.3 Section 9(2) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 empowers the Council to 
revoke a special treatments licence for any of the reasons set out in section 8 
of that Act. 

13.4 Section 8 of that Act sets out a number of grounds under which a special 
treatments licence can be revoked by the Council, as set out in paragraph 4.4 
of this report. 

13.5 On 27th September 2018, Stratford Magistrates’ Court dealt with a prosecution 
of the licence holder by the London Borough of Tower Hamlets for offering 
services of a sexual nature and for having masseuses working at the premises 
who were not approved by the Council’s Licensing and Safety Team to work 
as masseuses.  

13.6 The  licence holder pleaded guilty, and was fined £500, also being ordered to 
pay costs of £1286.50 and a victim surcharge of £50.  

14. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 A copy of the current special treatment licence.

Appendix 2 A copy of the standard conditions for special treatment licences.
Appendix 3 Regulations for annual special treatment licences under section 

10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991
Appendix 4 Report from the Environmental Health Department 

NAT.CFE.1 Special treatment licence renewal application and supporting 
documents.

NAT.CFE.2 Witness statement of first test purchase conducted on the 
13/04/2018

NAT.CFE.3 Internet Searches
NAT.CFE.4 Single Justice Procedure Notice
NAT.CFE.5 List of directors from Companies House
NAT.CFE.6 Special treatment licence renewal application regarding licence 

in place at the time of the test purchase.
____________________________________

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information.

 NONE 

Officer contact details for documents:
Charlotte Basten,  Environmental Health Officer
Ext: 6646

Page 28



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



NAT.CFE.1

Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete) 

Witness Statement Page 1 of 6 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

Name / Signature: 

MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 1 of 7 

URN: 

Statement of: 

Age if under 18 (if over insert “over 18”): over 18 Occupation: Surveillance Operative 

This statement (consisting of Pages(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it 

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be 

false, or do not believe to be true. 

Name / Signature: Date: 13/04/2018 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded: (Supply witness details on last page) 

Statement 

1. I am and I am employed by , of 

. 

2. I was instructed by  to attend China Five Elements, 35 Artillery Lane,

London, E1 7LP, in order to conduct a test purchase task on behalf of the London Borough of Tower

Hamlets.

3. At approximately 14:00 hrs on the 13/04/2018 I visited China Five Elements, 35 Artillery Lane,

London, E1 7LP, in order to conduct a test purchase task.

4. Upon entering the premises, I was greeted by a male who appeared to be Asian. This male was wearing

a suit. The male was seated behind a desk and was using both a mobile phone and a laptop. I asked

the male for massage prices, to which he responded by showing me a price list. The price list stated

prices from between £45 for 30 minutes up to £120 for 120 minutes. I opted for the £45 massage and

paid in cash.

5. The male led me to a room which was the third door on the left. This door was one of what appeared

to be a total of six doors. There was a massage bed within the centre of the room, there were two

candles on a table and there was a sink on the far wall under the window. The room was painted light

brown.

6. Within the room a female was waiting. This female appeared to be Eastern European. The female was

tall and had jet black hair. The female was wearing blue jeans, a white t-shirt and black boots. The

female asked me to take off my clothes and lay on the bed. The female left the room whilst I undressed,

without removing my underwear. A few minutes later the female knocked on the door and re-entered

the room.

NAT.CFE.2

Page 89



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 2 of 6 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 
Name / Signature:   
 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 2 of 7 

 

 

7. The female began to massage me. I would describe this as a soft and relaxing massage. The theme 

song from the film “Titanic” was playing on repeat during the massage. During conversation the 

female stated that she only works on Fridays and that she works until 21:00 hrs. 

 

8. A few minutes into the massage, the female requested that I removed my underwear. I replied “If that’s 

what’s needed”, after which the female then removed my underwear and continued the massage.  

 

9. After approximately 20 further minutes, the female began to touch my crotch area. It appeared as 

though the female was attempting to incite a reaction. 

 

10. Towards the end of the massage the female asked if I wanted anything more than a massage. I enquired 

as to what this meant, to which she replied a “happy ending” was £40, “with breasts” was £60 and 

“completely naked” was £100. I refused these offers, stating that I had no remaining cash. The 

massage then continued. 

 

11. After the 30 minutes had expired I put my clothes on and departed the premises.  

 

12. During this visit I was offered, without any previous suggestion by myself, services of an apparent 

sexual nature.   

 

13. I declined all offers of such services.  

 

14. Following my visit, I immediately returned to my vehicle and wrote notes on the details of the event 

within a document on my work-issued smart-phone on 27/03/2018. I exhibit these as DH.004. 

 

15. I believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



Log of events for China five elements, 35 Artillery Ln, London E1 7LP on 13/04/18 

 

At approximately 1400 I entered China five elements. I was greeted by a well dressed Asian 

male. The male was in a suit and seated behind a desk on a mobile phone also using a laptop. 

I asked the male for prices for massages to which I was shown  price list it stated £45 - 30 mins 

all the way up to £120 for - 120 mins. I paid £45 cash and was taken by the male to the 3rd 

door on the left of a possible 6 In total. On entering there was a massage bed I  the centre of 

the room, two candles on a table, a sink on the far wall under the window. The room painted 

light brown. Waiting in the room was a tall eastern European female with jet black hair. The 

female was wearing blue jeans and white t-shirt with black boots. The female left the room 

asking me to take off my clothing and lay on the bed. Few minutes later the female knocked 

and entered. Female started a soft,relaxing massage. After a few minutes the female asked 

that I took my underwear off too which I replied "If that's what's needed" the female then 

took them off. Continued massage. After approximately 20 minutes the female began 

touching me in the crotch area almost trying to get a few tion from me. Towards the end I 

was asked if I wanted anything more than a massage. I then asked what she meant and was 

told....... happy ending £40 with breasts I  show £60 and completely naked was £100. Op 

refused saying I had no cash left. Message continued. After 30 was up I got changed and 

departed. During the Massage, titanic was playing I  repeat. In convo the female states she 

works Friday's only and until 9pm  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



There are currently eleven Google reviews for the business, one of which was left by a ' 
2 years ago. He explains that after booking a 30-minute sports massage, he was ''covered with a towel 
which was removed after 2 minutes''. He exclaimed that the ''back massage seemed wrong'', and that 
his masseuse focussed on his ''groin/upper thigh area for a few minutes'', before offering him services 
of a sexual nature. 

Our searches also enabled us to locate several discussions regarding China Five Elements on a site 
dedicated to reviews of ‘punting’ in the UK. The topic, entitled 'London massage shop mini reviews', 
contained a post2 by a user under the name of ' on 14th April 2017, who describes his 
experience at the business. He stated that he was attended to by a woman named ''tanya or tara'', 
and details that the service he received there was of a sexual nature. 

2 https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=139562.msg1547249#msg1547249 

NAT.CFE.3

Page 93

https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=139562.msg1547249#msg1547249


Furthermore, another discussion3 was located in which an ' stated on 21st October 2017 that 
he said ''seen some good intel on… china five elements'', although he did not go into detail as to what 
this information pertained to. 

In addition, our searches also enabled us to identify a discussion4 entitled 'Liverpool Street Area 
Massage', in which a user under the name of ' posted on 4th January 2018 that ''extras a cert 
there'', suggesting that the business offers services of a sexual nature. 

Social Networking Analysis 

Searches were carried out on all major social networking sites to locate social media accounts for the 
company, which revealed a Facebook page for 'China Five Elements'. We were able to identify an 
unofficial Facebook page5 for the business. It lists a contact number of  which is 
currently live.        

Extensive search term analysis has been conducted on social media using a variety of key words and 
phrases designed to locate any social media discussing the location of China Five Elements, but these 
searches did not return any pertinent information.  
                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Location Searches  

Searches were carried out on the area around the location of the supplied address to see if there were 
any posts of note but unfortunately no posts could be located with any relevance to China Five 
Elements. 
 

 

                                                           
3 https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=166193.msg1783903#msg1783903 
4 https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=177396.msg1875246#msg1875246  
5 https://www.facebook.com/pages/China-Five-Elements/307102889418764  

Page 94

https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=166193.msg1783903#msg1783903
https://www.ukpunting.com/index.php?topic=177396.msg1875246#msg1875246
https://www.facebook.com/pages/China-Five-Elements/307102889418764


NAT.CFE.4

Page 95



Page 96



NAT.CFE.5

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



NAT.CFE.6

Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the:

Licensing Committee

28th November  2018

Report of: David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health 
and Trading Standards Directorate of Place 

Classification:
Unrestricted 

London Local Authorities Act 1991 Hearing to consider the objection to  China 
Health Spa Limited, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building, 15 Hertsmere Road, London, E14 
4AW renewing their Special Treatment Licence

Originating Officer(s) Charlotte Basten, Environmental Health Officer
Wards affected Canary Wharf

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Licence Holder: China Health Spa Ltd 

Name and 
Address of 
Premises:

China Health Spa
Unit 1-2 Horizon Building 
15 Hertsmere Road
London
E14 4AW

Licence sought to 
refuse to renew:

Special Treatment Licence under The London Local 
Authorities Act 1991 Application to renew a Special 
Treatment Licence

Objectors: Natalie Thompson, Principal Environmental Health       
Officer, Licensing and Safety Team

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Licensing Committee is recommended to consider the objection to the 
renewal of the special treatment licence and then adjudicate accordingly.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 This is a report by the Licensing and Safety Team to object to the renewal of 
the special treatment licence for China Health Spa Limited trading as China 
Health Spa, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building, 15 Hertsmere Road, London, E14 4AW 
following evidence obtained that services of a sexual nature are being offered 
by the business at the premises. 

3.2 A licence from the Council is required for the use of a premises as an 
establishment for special treatments. An establishment for special treatment is 

Page 107

Agenda Item 3.2



defined in the Act as any premises in the borough used, intended to be used 
or represented as being used for the reception or treatment of persons 
requiring massage, manicure, acupuncture, tattooing, cosmetic piercing, 
chiropody, light, electric or other special treatment of a like kind or vapour, 
sauna or other baths. A special treatment licence renewal may be refused 
under The London Local Authorities Act 1991 Section 9 (2).

3.3 A renewal of a special treatment licence may be refused under The London 
Local Authorities Act 1991 Section 8.

3.4  China Health Spa Ltd has applied to renew their Special Treatment licence 
which expired on the 1st of October 2018. A copy of the licence can be found 
at Appendix 1. 

4. Legal Powers and Advice

4.1 Licences are granted subject to standard conditions.

4.2 Those Standard Conditions of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets were 
made under    the London Local Authorities Act 1991, Section 10 (1). It is the 
duty of any licence holder to be aware of and abide by those conditions. A 
copy of the standard conditions can be found at Appendix 2.

4.3 The council has made Regulations for annual special treatment licences 
under   section 10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991. These are 
available as Appendix 3.

4.4 Under the London Local Authorities Act 1991 the borough may refuse to 
renew a licence on the following grounds:

(a) the premises are not structurally suitable for the purpose;

(b) there is a likelihood of nuisance being caused by reason of the conduct, 
management or situation of the premises or the character of the relevant 
locality or the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put;

(c) the persons concerned or intended to be concerned in the conduct or 
management of the premises used for special treatment could be 
reasonably regarded as not being fit and proper persons to hold such a 
license;

(d) the persons giving the special treatment are not suitably qualified;

(e) the premises have been or are being improperly conducted;

(f) the premises are not provided with satisfactory means of lighting, 
sanitation and ventilation;

(g) the means of heating the premises are not safe;

Page 108



(h) proper precautions against fire on the premises are not being taken;

(i) they are not satisfied as to the safety of equipment used in the special 
treatment or as to the manner in which the treatment is to be given;

(j) they are not satisfied as to the safety of the special treatment to be 
given;

(k) satisfactory means of escape in case of fire and suitable means for 
fighting fire are not provided on the premises;

(l) the applicant has, within the period of five years immediately preceding 
the application to the borough council, been convicted of an offence 
under this Part of this Act.

4.5 Legislation provides that where an applicant is aggrieved at the Council 
refusing to renew a licence, the applicant may within twenty one days of being 
notified of the Council's decision, appeal to a Magistrates Court. The Court may 
grant such an order as it sees fit.

4.6 An appeal by either party against the decision of the magistrates' court may be 
brought to the Crown Court.

4.7 Where any licence renewal is refused under section 13(5) (Enforcement of Part 
II) of this Act the licence shall be deemed to remain in force – 

(a) until the time for bringing an appeal under this section has expired and, if 
such an appeal is duly brought, until the determination or abandonment of 
the appeal; and

(b) where an appeal relating to the refusal of an application for such a 
renewal is successful until the licence is renewed by the borough council.

5. Grounds for Refusal of the Licence

5.1 The Environmental Health Department has requested the hearing by the 
Licensing Committee to refuse to renew the licence. The report detailing the 
reasons for this can be found at Appendix 4. Find below a summary of the 
comments.

 On the 23rd March 2018, a male test purchaser visited China Health 
Spa as a customer to conduct a test purchase.  The test purchaser 
paid £50 for a Swedish massage.  The female masseuse instructed 
him to take all of his clothes off and had only a small towel to cover his 
buttocks.  During the massage, the masseuse had taken the towel off 
to massage the buttocks and occasionally touched his private parts. 
The masseuse behaved in a manner which could be said to be 
sexually suggestive., 

Page 109



 On the 21st May 2018, a second test purchase visit was undertaken at 
the premises.   The male test purchaser opted to pay £45 cash for a 
deep tissue massage.  During the massage, the female masseuse 
offered him ‘extra services’.  Towards the end of the massage, the 
masseuse focused on his buttocks and asked if there was anything 
else that he wanted.  When asked what she meant by this, she 
responded that her prices started at £40.  When asked again what this 
would entail, she stated that it would be for ‘hand relief’ with ‘teasing’ 
and that she did not offer ‘mouth relief’.”  

 An alleged former employee of China Health Spa who says they 
worked as a masseuse in the premises in 2016 and requested to 
remain anonymous advised an Officer in the licensing and safety team 
that this business was not run in a professional manner and has written 
a statement to this effect. Members need to consider how much weight 
they give to the alleged ex employee’s statement because it is 
unsigned. The employee wished to remain anonymous as she was 
afraid of repercussions.

 The persons concerned in the conduct and management of the 
premises used for special treatment could be reasonably regarded as 
not being fit and proper persons to hold such a licence. (Section 8c) as 
they were in control of the business at the time of the test purchases. 

6. Recommendations

6.1 Following the report to refuse the renewal of the licence, Members are asked 
to consider the representation when determining whether to refuse the 
renewal of the licence.

7. Summary of Premises and Licence History 

7.1 China Health Spa Limited was first issued a special treatment licence on the 
5th of December 2011.

8. Complaints and Enforcement History 

8.1 On the 13th April 2017 a petition containing 101 signatures of residents local 
to the Liverpool Street area was handed to the council by the Corporation of 
London. The petition requested that all massage premises in the area were 
investigated for compliance with their licence conditions. China Health Spa 
which is not local to this area was included in the investigation due to 
comments received from an alleged former employee and also from a Tower 
Hamlets Council employee. 

8.2 The premises has received the following visits from the Local Authority in the 
last 24 months:

Page 110



Date Authority Nature of visit

01/09/2011 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence inspection. Several points required 
action.
- No accident book on site. 
-Portable Electrical Equipment not tested

09/09/2011 Smoke Free Smoke free complaint visit
22/11/2012 Licensing 

and Safety
Licence inspection. Several points required 
action.
-No accident book on site. 
- Portable Appliance Test Certificate not 
provided
-Therapists’ details and qualifications not 
provided/ satisfactory
- Expiry of professional liability insurance
- No gloves available for use
Items stored in electrical cupboard

- Sharps containers not adequately 
disposed of.

13/11/2013 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Several points 
required action. 

-Unsatisfactory medical history checks for 
clients.
- Loose flooring in massage room presenting a 
slips and trips hazard
- Lack of Accident book 

22/10/2014 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. Several points 
required action:

- Expiry of therapists qualification 
certificate

- Shower not flushed on a weekly basis

03/11/2015 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. No issues found.  

11/10/2016 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal Inspection. The following 
required action:
- The sharps box in the acupuncture room was 
full

27/10/2017 Licensing 
and Safety

Licence Renewal inspection. Several Points 
required action. 

- Requirement for therapist qualification for 
Facials

- Lino floor joint separated in the 
Acupuncture room ,  potential tripping 
hazard

- Lack of  suitable lidded bins in every 
treatment room

Page 111



- Fire extinguishers not serviced and not 
wall mounted

- A clean lidded container not being on 
hand  to store sterile nail tools 

- A no smoking sign not provided at the 
entrance of the premises       

23/03/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Test purchase. Services of a sexual nature were 
not offered, but there was sexually suggestive 
behaviour by the masseuse during the test 
purchase. 

21/05/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Test purchase. Services of a sexual nature were 
offered to the test purchaser at the time of the 
visit.

23/05/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Test purchase. Services of a sexual nature not 
offered. 

29/10/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Licensing renewal visit- No hot water

5/11/2018 Licensing 
and Safety

Revisit to check – hot water provided

8.3 The licence holder has been referred to the Council’s Legal team for 
prosecution under the London Local Authorities Act 1991. 

9. Special Treatment Licences and Determination 

9.1 Members should consider the Standard conditions and relevant legislation 
(see Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 respectively).

10. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no equalities implications.

11. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Best Value implications: There are no best value implications.

11.2 Environmental considerations: There are no environmental implications.

11.3 Crime reduction: One of the key objectives of the Council is to ensure that it 
does not licence premises that are liable to be a source of crime and disorder. 
The Council supports and assists with crime and disorder reduction by 
controlling those who manage premises open to members of the public. 

11.4 Safeguarding: There are no proven safeguarding impacts; however premises 
that are managed in this way may employ underage persons or vulnerable 
adults. Therefore there may be a positive safeguarding impact.

Page 112



11.5 Risk Management: The Council will be at risk of legal challenge if its 
processes are not transparent and evidentially based.

12. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

12.1 The Chief Finance Officer has been consulted on this report and has no 
additional comments to make. 

13. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES 

13.1 Section 10 of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 enables the local 
authority to make regulations prescribing standard conditions applicable to all 
licenses for special treatment premises.  

13.2  The London Borough of Tower Hamlets made such regulations which are 
produced as Appendix 2 to this report, and one of those regulations, 7(B) 
says, “The licensee shall ensure that no part of the premises are used by 
prostitutes, for soliciting or any other immoral purposes.” 

13.3 Section 9(2) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 empowers the Council 
to revoke a special treatments licence for any of the reasons set out in section 
8 of that Act. 

13.4 Section 8 of that Act sets out a number of grounds under which a special 
treatments licence can be revoked by the Council, as set out in paragraph 4.4 
of this report. 

13.5 This matter is currently the subject of a pending prosecution, with an initial 
court hearing due on 13th December 2018. Although the matter has not been 
concluded at court, Members may still consider the application to revoke the 
licence if satisfied it is more probable than not that on 21st May 2018, services 
of a sexual nature were offered by a masseuse employed at the premises, 
contravening regulation 7 (B) above of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ 
regulations regarding the operation of a special treatment licence. 

14. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 A copy of the current special treatment licence.

Appendix 2 A copy of the standard conditions for special treatment licences.
Appendix 3 Regulations for annual special treatment licences under section 

10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991
Appendix 4 Report from the Environmental Health Department 
NAT.CHS.1 Special treatment licence renewal application and supporting 

documents
NAT.CHS.2 Statement from an alleged former employee of China Health 

Page 113



Spa
NAT.CHS.3 Witness statement of  test purchase conducted on 23/3/18
NAT.CHS.4 Witness statement of  test purchase conducted on 21/5/18
NAT.CHS.5 Court summons 
NAT.CHS.6 List of directors from Companies House 
NAT.CHS.7 List of persons with significant control of the company 
NAT.CHS.8 Special treatment licence renewal application regarding licence 

in place at the time of the test purchase

____________________________________

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information.
 NONE 

Officer contact details for documents:
Charlotte Basten, Environmental Health Officer
Ext: 6646

Page 114



Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



NAT.CHS.1

Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 1 of 2 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 
Name / Signature:   Signature Witnessed by:   
 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 1 of 3 

 URN:     

 

 

Statement of:   
 

Age if under 18 (if over insert “over 18”):  Occupation: Massage therapist  

 
 

This statement (consisting of  2 Pages(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it  

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be 

false, or do not believe to be true. 
 

       

Name / Signature: XXX  Date: 4/05/2018  
       

 

 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded:  (Supply witness details on last page) 

 

 

Statement 
 

 
I provide my services as a Massage therapist in China Health Spa in 2016. 

 

I want to confirm that the company does not follow a very professional procedure.  

 

I was never asked for sexual services but I experienced some procedures into the company very 

unprofessional. 

 

-They allow customers;  to be naked in the room 

                                        Free choice to choose the therapist in a funny way. 

-Therapist are not using professional uniforms, they wear short dress, low-cut blouses and heals. 

  ( majority of them Asian women) 

-Some of the therapist are not certified as a qualified massage therapist ( they only are in the salon to do         

"extra service"). 

-The receptionist manage bookings for their regular male clients only "nice ladies" that are not qualified. 

 

I experienced one time I had a client waiting for a massage and when and get into the room the customer 

was completely naked even covered with a towel, I left the room rejecting this client and the manager swop 

for another therapist instead of ask for this customer leave. 

Also in other occasion   I was performing a treatment and the customer was having an erection during the 

massage expecting an extra service, I just stop the massage and the receptionist did not care about this, this 

was a regular client. 

Their regular clients always are get ready into the room completely naked and with the wallet ready on the 

table. 

 

I would like to support my statement giving some details of some employees if that can help in the 

investigation. Probably might be changed as it was 2 years ago.  

 

 

NAT.CHS.2 

Page 149



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 2 of 2 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 
Name / Signature:   Signature Witnessed by:   
 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 2 of 3 

 

                       

(they might change the therapists but they will always have a  Chinese women) 

 

I hope this information can help you. 

 

Best regards 

 

Ex employee of China Spa  

 

 

4/05/2018 

Page 150



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

    

 

MG 11 (08/2007) 

 

 URN:     

 Crown Court 
No: 

 

  at  

  
Witnesses 
(names)* 

( 1 )  ( 4 )  

*Insert No.: ( 2 )  (  )  
 ( 3 )  (  )  

Mark dates when Investigators and other witnesses are NOT available. Codes for non-availability 
R = Rest day L = Leave    C = Course    N = Night duty    S = Sickness    O = Other 
 

D
a
te

 

Month  

D
a

te
 

Month  

D
a

te
 

Month  

D
a

te
 

Month  

D
a

te
 

Month  

D
a

te
 

Month 

           

Witness number  Witness number  Witness number  Witness number  Witness number  Witness number 

                                         
1        1        1        1        1        1       
2        2        2        2        2        2       
3        3        3        3        3        3       
4        4        4        4        4        4       
5        5        5        5        5        5       
6        6        6        6        6        6       
7        7        7        7        7        7       
8        8        8        8        8        8       
9        9        9        9        9        9       
10        10        10        10        10        10       
11        11        11        11        11        11       
12        12        12        12        12        12       
13        13        13        13        13        13       
14        14        14        14        14        14       
15        15        15        15        15        15       
16        16        16        16        16        16       
17        17        17        17        17        17       
18        18        18        18        18        18       
19        19        19        19        19        19       
20        20        20        20        20        20       
21        21        21        21        21        21       
22        22        22        22        22        22       
23        23        23        23        23        23       
24        24        24        24        24        24       
25        25        25        25        25        25       
26        26        26        26        26        26       
27        27        27        27        27        27       
28        28        28        28        28        28       
29        29        29        29        29        29       
30        30        30        30        30        30       
31        31        31        31        31        31       
 
  

‘O’, ‘C’ and ‘S’ codes — give full details: 
 
 EX employee of China Health Spa  

 Name of person submitting form and date 
 
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete) 

Witness Statement 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

Name / Signature: 

MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 1 of 7 

URN: 

Statement of: 

Age if under 18 (if over insert “over 18”): over 18 Occupation: Surveillance Operative 

This statement (consisting of Pages(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it 

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be 

false, or do not believe to be true. 

Name / Signature: Date: 23/03/2018 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded: (Supply witness details on last page) 

Statement 

1. I am  and I am employed by The Surveillance Group Ltd, of Brook Court, Whittington 

Hall, Whittington Road, Worcester WR5 2RX.

2. I was instructed by The Surveillance Group Ltd to attend China Health Spa, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building,

15 Hertsmere Road, London, E14 4AW, in order to conduct a test purchase task on behalf of the

London Borough of Tower Hamlets.

3. At 14:01 hrs on the 23/03/2018 I visited China Health Spa, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building, 15 Hertsmere

Road, London, E14 4AW, in order to conduct a test purchase task.

4. Upon entering the premises, I was greeted by a female within the reception area. This female appeared

to be Asian and appeared approximately 50 years of age. I requested a massage and the female stated

that she could arrange a massage for me immediately. The female asked if I would like a “Swedish”

or a “deep tissue” massage. I opted for the “Swedish” massage and paid £50.

5. The female proceeded to request the attention of another female, who it was indicated would be

performing my massage. This female appeared to be Asian and appeared to be approximately in her

late 40’s. The female was wearing a leopard print dress.

6. This female led me to a room. Within the room the female asked me to remove all of my clothes and

lay face down on a bed. She then left the room as I removed my all of my clothing and lay face down

on the bed. I had a small towel covering my buttocks. The female shortly returned.

7. The female began to massage me. She asked if I was okay and mentioned that I had nice tattoos.

NAT.CHS.3

Page 153



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 2 of 6 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 

Name / Signature:      
 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 2 of 7 

8. Later into the massage, as the female massaged my lower half, she removed the towel and spent a few 

minutes massaging my buttocks. The female seemed to occasionally briefly touch my penis during this 

time.  

 

9. Shortly later, the female asked me to turn over. I did so and lay facing upwards uncovered before she 

then laid a small towel covering my groin. The massage continued.  

 

10. After massaging my lower legs and my feet, the female then proceeded to massage my quadriceps. The 

female would often briefly touch my penis during this time. The female then proceeded to massage my 

chest. 

 

11. Shortly later, the female asked if I would like my head massaging. I agreed and the female proceeded 

to massage my head and scalp. After the female had finished the head massage, she said “okay” and 

left the room. I inferred that this meant that the massage was finished and proceeded to put my clothes 

on. 

 

12. As I departed towards the exit of the premises, the female was near the reception area. She thanked 

me and said goodbye. I exited the premises at 15:09 hrs. 

 

13. During this visit I was touched, without any previous suggestion by myself, in a manner which was of 

a sexually suggestive nature.   

 

14. I did not respond to any such actions.  

 

15. Following my visit, I immediately returned to my vehicle and wrote notes on the details of the event 

within a document on my work-issued smart-phone on 23/03/2018. I exhibit these as NH.001. 

 

16. I believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete) 

Witness Statement 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

Name /

Age if under 18 (if over insert “over 18”): over 18 Occupation: Surveillance Operative 

This statement (consisting of Pages(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it 

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be 

false, or do not believe to be true. 

Name / Signature:  Date: 21/05/2018 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded: (Supply witness details on last page) 

Statement 

1. I am and I am employed by The Surveillance Group Ltd, of Brook Court, Whittington 

Hall, Whittington Road, Worcester WR5 2RX.

2. I was instructed by The Surveillance Group Ltd to attend China Health Spa, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building,

15 Hertsmere Road, E14 4AW, in order to conduct a test purchase task on behalf of the London

Borough of Tower Hamlets.

3. At approximately 12:00 hrs on the 21/05/2018 I visited China Health Spa, Unit 1-2 Horizon Building,

15 Hertsmere Road, E14 4AW, in order to conduct a test purchase task.

4. Upon entering the premises, nobody was manning the front desk. There was seating in the waiting

area and a mobile screen, which was partially blocking the route to the several treatments rooms.

There was also what appeared to be an office behind the reception.

5. After a few seconds, an Asian woman aged between 30-40 appeared from the rear of the building. She

called an Asian man of similar age over to deal with me and asked which service I would like. He

pointed to a small board in the desk displaying various options and I opted for a 45min rep tissue

massage for £45 and paid in cash.

6. He then asked me to take a seat on the sofa whilst he dealt with another customer who came in after

me. The customer paid by card and was also asked to wait on the sofa. After a few minutes, a female

named Sellina collected me. I believe this female was Polish. She was dressed all in black. The

female lead me to one of the treatment rooms.

7. Inside the room was a massage bed, a sink, table, stool and work surface. No music was playing in

the room, only in reception.

NAT.CHS.4

Page 155



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 2 of 4 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 

Name / Signature:    

 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 2 of 5 

8. The wallpaper was noticeably faded and the paint finish was of a low standard. She asked if I would 

like a glass of water and requested that I take all of my clothes off as she left the room. 

 

9. On her return, she commented that I had left my underwear on and said it would be easier if I 

removed them. I did so and she covered me with a towel. While massaging me, we chatted about 

working out, The DVLA, and her ambition to work for herself. She also stated that she only worked 

Monday and Friday at China Health Spa. 

 

10. Towards the end of the massage, she focused on my buttocks and asked if there was anything else 

that I wanted. I asked what she meant by this and she responded by telling me that her prices started 

at £40. I asked again what this would entail and she stated that it would be for ‘hand relief’ with 

‘teasing’ and that she did not offer ‘mouth relief’. 

 

11. After I declined, she finished the massage and wiped my body down with paper towels. I replaced my 

clothes and she thanked me as I left at around 13:00 hrs.  

 

12. During this visit I was offered, without any previous suggestion by myself, services of an apparent 

sexual nature.   

 

13. I declined all offers of such services.  

 

14. Following my visit, I immediately returned to my vehicle and wrote notes on the details of the event 

within a document on my work-issued smart-phone on 21/05/2018. I exhibit these as KC.002  

 

15. I believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true. 

 

Page 156



Page 1 of 1 

China Healta-  prosecution for breach of special treatment licence conditions 

HER MAJESTY'S     EAST LONDON LOCAL 
COURTS AND TRIBUNALS JUSTICE AREA (2574) 
SERVICE     (HACKNEY, NEWHAM, 

TOWER HAMLETS AND 
WALTHAM FOREST) 

SUMMONS/INFORMATION 
Date: 24th October 2018  Ref:  

To: China Health Spa Limited                (DOB: << insert >>) 
(co. regn no. 7085058) 
Unit 1, Horizon Building, 

 15 Hertsmere Road, 
     London E14 4AW  

Information has been laid this day by Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director 
Governance & Monitoring Officer, on behalf of the Mayor and Burgesses of the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets Council for that: 

On 21st May 2018, China Health Spa Limited trading as China Health Spa at Unit 1-2, 
Horizon Building, 15 Hertsmere Road, London E14 4AW, and said premises were 
used as an establishment for special treatment otherwise than in accordance with the 
terms, conditions or restrictions to which the licence is held, in that the premises were 
used for the purpose of prostitution, soliciting or any other immoral purposes in 
breach of condition 7(B) of the prescribed standard conditions of the licence, contrary 
to section 14 (2) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 

YOU ARE THEREFORE hereby SUMMONED to appear before the Magistrates’ 
Court sitting at 58 Bow Road, London, E3 4DJ on 13th December 2018 at 9.30am 
for 10am to answer the said Information 

 Dated this               day of 

District Judge 
Justice of the Peace for the Greater London Area 
Clerk to the Justices 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
This slip should be detached AT ONCE from the body of the summons and returned 
duly completed and signed to:- 

THE CLERK TO THAMES MAGISTRATES’ COURT, HACKNEY & TOWER 
HAMLETS DIVISION 

58 BOW ROAD 
LONDON E3 4DJ 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets Council v China Health Spa Limited 
I acknowledge receipt of the summons in the above matter due for hearing at 
Thames Magistrates’ Court, Hackney and Tower Hamlets Division, 58 Bow Road, 
London E3 4DJ on 13th December 2018 at 9.30am for 10am 

Signed  Dated 

It is the Council’s intention at the conclusion of the case to apply to the 
Magistrate for costs incurred in bringing this prosecution 

NAT.CHS.5

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



NAT.CHS.6

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



NAT.CHS.7

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



NAT.CHS.8

Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the:

Licensing Committee

28th November 2018

Report of: David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health 
and Trading Standards Directorate of Place 

Classification:
Unrestricted 

London Local Authorities Act 1991 Hearing to consider an application for the 
new special treatment licence for Little Jasmine Centre, 56 Skylines Village, 
E14 9TS

Originating Officer(s) Natalie Thompson, Principal Environmental Health 
Officer

Wards affected Blackwall and Cubitt Town

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Applicant: Acu & Herbs Limited

Name and 
Address of 
Premises:

Little Jasmine Centre
56 Skylines Village
London E14 9TS

Licence sought: Special Treatment Licence under The London Local 
Authorities Act 1991 Application for a new Special 
Treatment Licence

Objectors: Lekan Olomo, Health and Safety Officer, Licensing 
and Safety Team

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Licensing Committee is recommended to consider the application and 
objections and then adjudicate accordingly.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 This is an application made on the 29th August 2018 by Acu & Herbs Limited 
for a new special treatment licence under section 6 (2) of the London Local 
Authorities Act 1991 for Little Jasmine Centre, 56 Skylines Village, London, 
E14 9TS. 

3.2 A licence from the Council is required for the use of a premises as an 
establishment for special treatments. An establishment for special treatment is 
defined in the Act as any premises in the borough used, intended to be used 
or represented as being used for the reception or treatment of persons 

Page 171

Agenda Item 3.3



requiring massage, manicure, acupuncture, tattooing, cosmetic piercing, 
chiropody, light, electric or other special treatment of a like kind or vapour, 
sauna or other baths. A special treatment licence may be refused under 
grounds in section 8 of The London Local Authorities Act 1991.

3.3 The current application is to permit the premises to operate as an 
establishment for special treatments offering massage and reflexology.

4. Legal Powers and Advice

4.1 Licences are granted subject to standard conditions.

4.2 Those Standard Conditions of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets were 
made under    the London Local Authorities Act 1991, Section 10 (1). It is the 
duty of any licence holder to be aware of and abide by those conditions. A copy 
of the standard conditions can be found at Appendix 1.

4.3 The council has made Regulations for annual special treatment licences under   
section 10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991. These are available as 
Appendix 2.

4.4 Under section 8 of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 the borough may 
refuse to grant a licence on the following grounds:

(a) the premises are not structurally suitable for the purpose;

(b) there is a likelihood of nuisance being caused by reason of the conduct, 
management or situation of the premises or the character of the relevant 
locality or the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put;

(c) the persons concerned or intended to be concerned in the conduct or 
management of the premises used for special treatment could be 
reasonably regarded as not being fit and proper persons to hold such a 
license;

(d) the persons giving the special treatment are not suitably qualified;

(e) the premises have been or are being improperly conducted;

(f) the premises are not provided with satisfactory means of lighting, 
sanitation and ventilation;

(g) the means of heating the premises are not safe;

(h) proper precautions against fire on the premises are not being taken;

(i) they are not satisfied as to the safety of equipment used in the special 
treatment or as to the manner in which the treatment is to be given;

Page 172



(j) they are not satisfied as to the safety of the special treatment to be 
given;

(k) satisfactory means of escape in case of fire and suitable means for 
fighting fire are not provided on the premises;

(l) the applicant has, within the period of five years immediately preceding 
the application to the borough council, been convicted of an offence 
under this Part of this Act.

4.5 Legislation provides that where an applicant is aggrieved at the Council 
refusing to grant, or renew a licence or at any condition or restrictions imposed, 
the applicant may within twenty one days of being notified of the Council's 
refusal, appeal to a Magistrates Court. The Court may grant an order for the 
issue of a licence or may remove any condition or restriction imposed. Should 
the applicant still feel aggrieved at the court’s decision there is a right of appeal 
to the Crown Court. 

5. Consultation 

5.1 The application has been consulted on in accordance with the London Local 
Authorities Act 1991. This has included:

5.2 A site notice at the premises displayed by the applicant during the required 
period.

5.3 A press advert was placed in the Docklands and East London Advertiser on 
the 6th September 2018 by the applicant.

5.4 The following is a list of those also consulted in regards to the application:
The Police
The Fire Brigade
Environmental Health

6. Objections/ Responses to the Consultation

6.1 On the 6th September 2018 an objection to the grant of the licence was 
received from an anonymous member of the public stating that the premises 
was being improperly conducted.

6.2 The Environmental Health- Licensing and Safety Team are objecting to the new 
application on the grounds that the premises have been or are being improperly 
conducted. Please see Appendix 3. The objections have already been made 
available to the licence holder. Find below a summary of the comments.

 The premises was observed trading and advertising special treatments 
without a licence on 17th and 20th September 2018.

Page 173



 A test purchase was conducted at the premises on the 20th September 
2018, which found that the test purchaser was offered services of a 
sexual nature at the end of a massage at the premises. Therefore the 
business is being improperly conducted which is a basis for refusal to 
grant a licence: section 8(e) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 
and paragraph 7 (B) of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
regulations for special treatment licences set out at Appendix 2.

 During an inspection of the premises therapists who were not notified 
to the council were carrying out special treatments at the premises.

7. Recommendations

7.1 Following objection from the Environmental Health, Licensing and Safety 
Team and an anonymous objection from a member of the public, Members 
are asked to consider the representations when determining whether to grant 
the new application.

8. Summary of Premises and Enforcement History 

8.1 On the 10th August 2018 the Licensing and Safety team visited the premises 
following a report that the premises was offering and advertising special 
treatments without a licence. Officers then spoke with one of the therapists 
there, who was instructed that special treatments must cease immediately 
and advertisements of special treatments must be taken down until a licence 
was in place. The officer noted on the council’s database that the therapist 
was wearing a red mini skirt and revealing top which is unusual for a massage 
therapist. 
. 

8.2 On the 29th August 2018 the special treatment licence application was 
received.  A public notice was placed in the newspaper on the 6th September 
2018. 

8.3 On the 17th September an inspection of the premises was carried out by an 
officer in the Licensing and Safety Team. The premises was found to be 
trading without a licence and to have undeclared therapists working at the 
establishment. 

8.4 On the 20th September 2018 a test purchase was carried out at the premises. 
The test purchaser was offered services of a sexual nature by the therapist.

9. Special Treatment Licences and Determination 

9.1 Members should consider the relevant legislation and Standard Conditions 
(see Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 respectively).

10. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no equalities implications.

Page 174



11. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Best Value implications: There are no best value implications.

11.2 Environmental considerations: There are no environmental implications.

11.3 Crime reduction: One of the key objectives of the Council is to ensure that it 
does not licence premises that are liable to be a source of crime and disorder. 
The Council supports and assists with crime and disorder reduction by 
controlling those who manage premises open to members of the public. Illegal 
activity has been proven to occur at the premises.

11.4 Safeguarding: There are no proven safeguarding impacts; however premises 
that are managed in this way may employ underage persons or vulnerable 
adults. Therefore there may be a positive safeguarding impact.

11.5 Risk Management: The Council will be at risk of legal challenge if its 
processes are not transparent and evidentially based.

12. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

12.1 The Chief Finance Officer has been consulted on this report and has no 
additional comments to make. 

13. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES 

13.1 Section 10 of the London Local Authorities Act 1991 enables the local 
authority to make regulations prescribing standard conditions applicable to all 
licenses for special treatment premises.

13.2 The London Borough of Tower Hamlets made such regulations which are 
produced as Appendix 2 to this report, and one of those regulations, 7(B) 
says, “The licensee shall ensure that no part of the premises are used by 
prostitutes, for soliciting or any other immoral purposes.” There are a number 
of standard conditions to a London Borough of Tower Hamlets special 
treatment licence. One of those is condition 6, which says that all treatments 
shall be given only by persons approved by the Council or, provided that the 
written consent of the Council has been obtained, under the personal 
supervision of a person approved by the Council.

13.3 Section 8 of that Act sets out a number of grounds under which an application 
for a special treatments licence can be refused by the Council, as set out in 
paragraph 4.4 of this report. 

13.4 As shown in Appendix 3, on 17th September 2018, the premises were offering 
special treatments without a licence being in place. 

13.5 As shown in the document appendixed as LOL.LJC.001, on 20th September 
2018, not only were the premises providing special treatment without a licence 

Page 175



for that yet being in place, but a masseuse working at the premises offered 
services of a sexual nature.

13.6 The Licensing Committee can therefore refuse to grant this application for a 
special treatment licence on the grounds that as set out in paragraph 8(e) of 
the London Local Authorities Act 1991, the premises have been or are being 
improperly conducted.

14. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 A copy of the standard conditions for special treatment licences
Appendix 2 Regulations for annual special treatment licences under section 

10 (1) of the London Local Authorities Act 1991
Appendix 3 Objection from the Environmental Health Department 
LOL.LJC.001 Witness statement of test purchase conducted on the premises 

including the typed notes of the test purchaser referred to in his 
statement

LOL.LJC.002 Copy of anonymous letter objecting to the new licence 
application.

LOL.LJC.003 A copy of the received application and supporting documents
LOL.LJC.004 A copy of a record of visit sheet for the premises inspection.
LOL.LJC.005 List of directors from Companies House

____________________________________

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information.
 NONE 

Officer contact details for documents:
Natalie Thompson, Principal Environmental Health Officer
Ext: 6703

Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete) 

Witness Statement 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

Name / Signature: 

MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 1 of 4 

URN: 

Statement of:  

Age if under 18 (if over insert “over 18”): over 18 Occupation: Surveillance Operative 

This statement (consisting of Pages(s) each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I make it 

knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it, anything which I know to be 

false, or do not believe to be true. 

Name / Signature:  Date: 20/09/2018 

Tick if witness evidence is visually recorded: (Supply witness details on last page) 

Statement 

1. I am and I am employed by The Surveillance Group Ltd, of Brook Court, Whittington

Hall, Whittington Road, Worcester WR5 2RX.

2. I was instructed by The Surveillance Group Ltd to attend Little Jasmine Therapy Centre, Unit 56,

Skylines Village, London, E14 9TS in order to conduct a test purchase task on behalf of the London

Borough of Tower Hamlets.

3. At approximately 12:15 hrs on the 20/09/2018 I visited Little Jasmine Therapy Centre, Unit 56,

Skylines Village, London, E14 9TS, in order to conduct a test purchase task.

4. I entered the premises, which was set within a commercial unit, through two sets of doors. These lead

into a very small reception/waiting area where there was a small sofa, a coffee table and small

reception desk. There were no signs of life at the time and relaxing music was playing from a CD

player in the corridor.

5. From the waiting area, I could see an Asian female, who appeared to be 35-40 years old, lying down

fully-clothed on a massage bed in one of the treatment rooms. She appeared to be sleeping, therefore

I opened the door behind me once again and shut it louder this time, which woke the female.

6. The female then rose from the bed and greeted me wearing a tight black dress, with a cardigan over

the top, and flat black shoes. As she greeted me, she looked me up and down at least three times, before

asking what it was that I required. I stated that I would like a thirty-minute massage and she confirmed

that it would cost £25, so I handed over £30 in cash.

7. The female then led me down a corridor, past a closed door, and into my treatment room. The room

was small and contained a massage bed, fake plant, lamp and several clothes hooks. The windows

LOL.LJC.001

Page 197



LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 

RESTRICTED (when complete)  MG11 
      

Witness Statement  Page 2 of 3 

CJ Act 1967, s.9; MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3) (a) and 5B; Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 , Rule 27.1 

 

 

Name / Signature:   
 

 
 
MG 11 (08/2007)   Page 2 of 4 

behind the curtains had been blacked out and there were baby wipes, toilet roll and baby oil on the 

window sill. 

 

8. The female then asked me, in seemingly very limited English, to get ready for the massage whilst she 

left the room to retrieve my change. Upon her return, she handed me £5 and removed her cardigan.  

 

9. After applying oil to her hands, the female then began to massage my back as I lay face down on the 

bed, wearing only my underwear. She quickly moved her hands down and began to remove my 

underwear, at the same time asking if I wanted to remove them. I politely replied ‘no’.  

 

10. The female still continued to pull down my underwear partially in order to expose approximately 

75% of my buttocks. The massage continued and focus was given predominantly to my lower back 

and buttock region, however, the rest of my back, shoulders and legs were massaged too.  

 

11. As the female moved from my upper body to my legs, she pulled my boxers back up around my waist, 

before pushing them up from the bottom to expose my upper thighs. The massage at this point took the 

form of long, slow strokes from just above my knee to the top of my thighs. On several occasions, she 

grazed my genitals with her hands at the top of these strokes.  

 

12. After approximately twenty minutes, the female stopped the massage and I asked her if it was over. 

She then requested that I turn over and, no sooner had I done so, she asked me if ‘I would like anything 

else’. I replied ‘anything else?’, and she then asked me if I would like a ‘happy ending’, at the same 

time making a suggestive hand gesture.  

 

13.  I asked the female how much this service would cost, to which she informed me that a ‘happy ending’ 

would cost £20 and ‘body on body’ would cost £40. 

 

14. After I politely declined these two offers, the massage continued on the front of my legs. The female 

focused on the lower parts first, before moving on to my thighs. In a similar fashion to the earlier 

massage technique, she used long, slow strokes all the way to the top of my thighs. During this period, 

she again grazed my genitals on several occasions.  

 

15. After the massage, the female removed the oil from my body using paper towels, before leaving the 

room. I replaced my clothes and exited the room myself, to find her waiting outside the door. She then 

led me to the exit and opened the door for me as I departed at 12:50 hrs. 

 

16. During this visit I was offered, without any previous suggestion by myself, services of an apparent 

sexual nature.   

 

17. I declined all offers of such services.  

 

18. Following my visit, I immediately returned to my vehicle and wrote notes on the details of the event 

within a document on my work-issued smart-phone on 20/09/2018. I exhibit these as KC.004.  

 

19. I believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true. 

Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



LOL.LJC.003

Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 231



Page 232


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	x Draft minutes 130918 FINAL

	3.1 China Five Elements
	Appendix 1 redacted
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	NAT.CFE.1._Redacted
	NAT.CFE.2_Redacted
	NAT.CFE.3_Redacted
	NAT.CFE.4._Redacted
	NAT.CFE.5._Redacted
	NAT.CFE.6_Redacted

	3.2 China Health Spa
	Appendix 1 redacted
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	NAT.CHS.1_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.2_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.3_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.4_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.5_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.6_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.7_Redacted
	NAT.CHS.8_Redacted

	3.3 Little Jasmine Centre
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	LOL.LJC.001
	LOL.LJC.002 - Redacted
	LOL.LJC.003
	Exhibit LOL.LJC.004 - Redacted
	LOL.LJC.005 - Redacted




